



City of Snellville Planning Commission

PLANNING COMMISSION REPORT

April 23, 2019

#ZOA 19-03

Amendment to Section 6.2, Definitions and Section 9.10, BG District Regulations of the Snellville Zoning Ordinance and Article VI, Motels, Hotels and Extended Stay Hotels of Chapter 22, Businesses of the City Code of Snellville.

By a unanimous vote of 4-0, the Planning Commission recommends to **Approve** the proposed amendment for the purposes of promoting health, safety, morals, convenience, order, prosperity, aesthetics, or the general welfare of the City of Snellville. The proposed amendment is attached hereto as Exhibit "A" and incorporated herein by reference.

EXHIBIT "A"

STATE OF GEORGIA
CITY OF SNELLVILLE

ORDINANCE NO. 2019-_____

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ZONING ORDINANCE AND CODE OF THE CITY OF SNELLVILLE, GEORGIA; TO ESTABLISH DEFINITIONS AND REGULATIONS FOR HOTELS, MOTELS AND EXTENDED-STAY HOTELS; TO PROVIDE FOR THE CONTINUED AVAILABILITY OF QUALITY TRANSIENT LODGING WITHIN THE CITY AND PROPER MAINTENANCE OF HOTELS, MOTELS, AND EXTENDED-STAY HOTELS; TO PROVIDE SEVERABILITY; TO REPEAL CONFLICTING ORDINANCES; TO PROVIDE AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES.

WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority of the City of Snellville, Georgia (the “City”) is the Mayor and Council; and

WHEREAS, the Mayor and Council desire to ensure the continued availability of quality transient lodging and to maintain the proper maintenance of hotels, motels and extended stay hotels within the City;

WHEREAS, the Mayor and Council have, as a part of planning, zoning and growth management, been in review of the City’s Code of Ordinances and have been studying the City’s best estimates and projections of the type of development which could be anticipated within the City including the City’s Towne Center project; and

WHEREAS, the City has been presented evidence that there can be desperate results of deteriorating extended stay hotels where these structures become havens for criminal activity affecting the quality of life in the surrounding communities including specific struggles incurred by the neighboring cities of Norcross and Lawrenceville; and

Formatted: Highlight

WHEREAS, research by the U.S. Department of Justice has documented since 2005, that extended stay hotels and other budget motels have been havens for criminal activity including, but not limited to:

- 1) Disturbances
- 2) Domestic Violence
- 3) Theft
- 4) Auto theft and theft from autos

- 5) Public Drinking
- 6) Vandalism
- 7) Prostitution
- 8) Drug dealing and use
- 9) Fights
- 10) Clandestine drug-lab operations
- 11) Sexual assault
- 12) Robbery
- 13) Sex trafficking
- 14) Labor trafficking

WHEREAS, the introduction of unregulated transients has a significant impact on local schools, both because of the inability of the school to predict the number of children living in transient facilities, but also because the introduction of transient students interrupts the normal educational process because of the constant turnover of students from such transient housing facilities; and

WHEREAS, as a result of such review, the Mayor and Council have determined that to serve the needs of the community certain amendments are needed to the City's Code of Ordinances to ensure the proper maintenance of hotels, motels, and extended-stay hotels; and

WHEREAS, the Mayor and Council have determined that the health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of the City and hotel, motel, and extended-stay hotel inhabitants will be positively impacted by the adoption of this Ordinance.

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF SNELLVILLE, GEORGIA, and by the authority thereof:

Section 1. That a new Article is added to Chapter 22 of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Snellville, Georgia and is hereby codified as follows:

ARTICLE VI

MOTELS, HOTELS AND EXTENDED STAY HOTELS.

Sec. 22-11. Purpose.

- (a) The purpose of this ordinance is to ensure the continued availability of quality transient lodging within the City, proper maintenance of hotels, motels, and extended-stay hotels and to protect the health, safety and welfare of hotel, motel, and extended-stay hotel inhabitants.
- (b) Unless otherwise stated in this ordinance, the requirements of this ordinance apply to those who occupy, visit, patronize, frequent, operate, keep, conduct, or own a hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel within the City, regardless of the date of the hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel's construction.
- (c) This ordinance is essential to the public's interest, safety, health, and welfare and this ordinance shall be liberally construed to effectuate its purposes.

Sec. 22-12. Definitions.

"Bona fide employee" shall mean a person who works in the service of the hotel, motel, or extended stay hotel under a contract of hire, whether express or implied, where the employer has the power or right to control or direct the details of what work is to be performed and the manner in which that work is to be performed.

"Electronic records" shall mean the identifying information for all patrons and their guests contained in the electronic registration system as listed in Section 22-19 of this ordinance, which is recorded at the time of registration and maintained for a period of no less than one hundred eighty (180) days after the rental agreement's termination.

"Extended-stay hotel" shall, for the purpose of this article, mean any structure consisting of one or more buildings, with more than five dwelling units with provisions for living, sanitation, and sleeping, that is specifically constructed, kept, used, maintained, advertised, and held out to the public to be a place where temporary residence is offered for pay (a) to persons for extended-stays and/or stays longer than thirty (30) days, regardless of the presence of rentals or leases for shorter periods of time; or (b) for stays longer than fifteen (15) days in rooms equipped with kitchen facilities. Or, where more than five percent (5%) of the guest rooms therein contain fixed cooking appliances.

"Fixed cooking appliances" shall mean a stove top burner; a hotplate that does not serve as an integral part of an appliance designed solely to produce coffee; a conventional oven; a convection oven; or any oven producing heat using resistance heating elements, induction heating, or infrared heating sources.

“Guest” shall mean a person who is not a ~~P~~patron ~~but who~~ is present on the premises of a hotel, motel or extended-stay hotel ~~to accompany with the express permission of (a) a guest or P~~patron of the hotel, motel or extended-stay hotel and ~~(b) with the express permission of~~ the owner, operator, keeper or proprietor of the hotel, motel or extended-stay hotel. Guests are required to register with the supporting Patron.

“Hotel” or “motel” shall, for the purpose of this article, mean any structure consisting of one or more buildings, with more than five dwelling units with provisions for transient living, sanitation, and sleeping, that is specifically constructed, kept, used, maintained, advertised, and held out to the public to be a place where temporary lodging of thirty (30) days or less is offered for pay to ~~Patrons~~guests, is not intended for long-term occupancy, and does not otherwise meet the definition of an extended-stay hotel as defined in this section.

“Housing of Last Resort” shall mean a public or private housing shelter for indigent care.

Formatted: Highlight

“Housekeeping” shall mean the cleaning of guest rooms, guest bathrooms, public area, changing of linen and removal of trash from guest rooms and common areas which meet the standards as expressed in the operation guidelines in the industry for high quality hotel and motel franchises (i.e. Hilton, Marriott or Hampton Inn).

“Kitchen facilities” shall mean kitchen amenities including, but not limited to, refrigerators, stoves, ovens, and kitchen-type sink. Amenities limited to a microwave, mini-refrigerator, and/or an appliance designed to produce coffee or tea do not constitute “kitchen facilities” for purposes of this definition.

“Loitering” is defined and regulated in Article III of Chapter 38 of this Code.

“Manual records” shall mean the identifying information for all patrons and their guests contained in the form of a paper record or reservation book as listed in Sec. 22-19(e) of this ordinance, which is recorded at the time of registration and maintained for a period of no less than one hundred eighty (180) days after the rental agreement’s termination.

“Patron” shall mean a person who pays a fee to the owner, operator, keeper or proprietor of the hotel, motel or extended-stay hotel for the right to occupy a room.

“Public nuisance” shall mean a condition, obstruction or use of property allowed or continued by any person, legal entity or agent, that interferes with the comfortable enjoyment of life and property by the neighborhood, community, or members of the public; or which can cause hurt, damage, inconvenience or affect or offend an ordinary, reasonable person.

“Vehicle” is any car, truck, trailer, motorcycle, or other conveyance used for transporting people and is normally required to be registered with a state in order to be legally operated or towed on a public roadway.

“Video Surveillance System” (VSS) means a continuous digital surveillance system including cameras, cabling, monitors, and digital video recorders (DVR).

“Visitor” shall mean a person, who is not a patron or guest, who is on the premises of a hotel, motel or extended-stay hotel at the invitation of a ~~P~~patron or ~~G~~guest, but without the express permission of the owner, operator, keeper or proprietor of the hotel, motel or extended-stay hotel.

Sec. 22-13. Provisions applicable to hotels, motels and extended-stay hotels.

~~(a)~~ No hotel, motel or extended-stay hotel shall be initially constructed or thereafter operated unless in full compliance with each of the provisions of this Article and associated Zoning Ordinance.

~~(a)~~~~(b)~~ Approval of a hotel, motel or extended-stay hotel shall require the issuance of a special use permit. Before a special use permit may be heard by the Planning Commission, the Planning Director shall conduct a separate public hearing on the impact of the hotel, motel or extended-stay hotel on the schools in the district and cluster affected by the proposed facility. The Planning Director shall notify the Principal, the Board of Education, every parent-teacher association affected by the requested rezoning and invite all to the public hearing on the school impact analysis. Along with the normal report and recommendations of the Planning Department, the Director of Planning and Zoning shall submit a report on the issues submitted at the public hearing.

Formatted: Highlight

~~(b)~~~~(c)~~ The common areas and unoccupied rooms of any hotel, motel or extended-stay hotel are subject to inspection by the City of Snellville Police Department, City of Snellville Code Enforcement, Gwinnett County Fire Department and/or the Gwinnett County Health Department if there is reasonable cause to suspect ~~suspicion~~ that such area or room is being used for criminal activity, housing of last resort, or in violation of this ordinance or condition of zoning.

~~(c)~~~~(d)~~ A bona fide employee of the hotel, motel, or extended stay hotel, capable of assisting, communicating, and cooperating with the police or other law enforcement officials in maintaining the public health, welfare, and safety is to be present and on-duty in the lobby of the hotel, motel or extended stay hotel twenty-four (24) hours a day.

(e) Hotels, motels and extended stay hotels operate for the benefit of travelers and transient parties those conducting legitimate business in the surrounding vicinity. No hotel, motel or extended-stay hotel may be used as housing of last resort. Except for a bona fide employees of a business when that business is paying for their employee and guests to stay at a hotel, motel or extended-stay hotel, no hotel, motel or extended-stay hotel shall accept payment from a third party for a room charge fee. be used as a homeless shelter or housing of last resort and rooms may not be provided for a fee to those whose room charge would otherwise be paid by a homeless shelter, church or non-profit charity unless such persons are bona fide employees of such organization.

Formatted: Highlight

Sec. 22-14. Provisions applicable to hotels and motels.

- (a) No more than five percent (5%) of a hotel or motel's guest rooms shall have Fixed Cooking Appliances located therein. If more than five percent (5%) of a hotel or motel's guest rooms contain Fixed Cooking Appliances, such hotel or motel is considered an extended-stay hotel and subject to the regulations for extended-stay hotels.
- (b) No hotel or motel may be converted to be and operated as an extended-stay hotel unless in full compliance with each of the provisions for extended-stay hotels.

Sec. 22-15. Provisions applicable to extended-stay hotels.

- (a) Each patron must have a vehicle on-site associated with them which they are authorized to operate unless:
 - (1) there is a written contract or documented agreement between an extended-stay hotel and a business, corporation, firm or governmental agency to house employees on valid work orders and said patron is such an employee; or
 - (2) Where there is documentation, consistent with HIPPA privacy rules, that a hotel Patron or Guest is considered family or is providing care for a patient who is admitted at local hospital; or
 - (3) When an insurance company or federal, state or local agency has provided documentation that a hotel Patron or Guest has been displaced from their home by a natural disaster or fire.
- (b) Each extended-stay hotel guest room having a fixed cooking appliance shall be required to also include a maximum sixty (60) minute automatic power-off timer for each such unit.
- (c) No Patron or Guestrooms shall have connecting doors between the rooms.

Sec. 22-16. Responsibilities and access requirements.

- (a) No owner, operator, keeper, proprietor or employee ~~thereof~~, of a hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel shall provide lodging at an hourly rate.
- (b) For any hotel, motel, or extended stay hotel permitted for construction after April 22, 2019, any public-facing entry points to the premises must require a magnetic or electronic keycard/locking device for access. Public-facing entry points shall be locked between the hours of 9:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m. and shall be equipped with an alarm or other device that will alert hotel, motel or extended-stay hotel security or other employees that the door has been opened. These requirements are not applicable to entry points that enter directly into a banquet hall, conference room, or other facility utilized for a special event or meeting hosted by a hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel as long as there is a bona fide employee staffing the banquet hall, conference room, or other facility utilized for the duration of that event.
- (c) An owner, operator, keeper or proprietor of a hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel may designate no more than three rooms for the purpose of allowing any number of bona-fide employees and their family to reside on the premises.

Sec. 22-17. Maximum Length of Occupancy (Hotels and Motels).

- (a) No hotel or motel located within the City shall allow any person to occupy such hotel or motel for more than thirty (30) consecutive days, nor more than sixty (60) days during a one hundred eighty (180) day period. **No Guest residing for more than thirty (30) consecutive days shall begin a new rental agreement with the hotel or motel without a two week (142) day vacancy between stays.**

Formatted: Highlight

Sec. 22-18. Maximum Length of Occupancy (Extended-Stay Hotels).

- (a) No extended-stay hotel located within the City shall allow more than ten (10) percent of individual guest rooms to be occupied by any person for more than one hundred and eighty (180) consecutive days unless otherwise permitted in this section. No guest residing for more than one hundred and eighty (180) consecutive days shall begin a new rental agreement with the extended stay hotel without at least a **ninetytwo (902) day vacancy between stays. The vacancy required by this requirement shall apply to all extended stay hotels within the City of Snellville, Georgia. Violation of this requirement shall subject the Guest and the Owner to the penalties of this Ordinance.**

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

- (b) Notwithstanding subsection (a) of this section, a stay in excess of one hundred and eighty (180) consecutive days may occur only in the following situations:
- (1) Where there is a written contract or documented agreement between an extended-stay hotel and a business, corporation, firm or governmental agency to house employees or individuals on valid work orders; or
 - (2) Where there is documentation, consistent with HIPPA privacy rules, that a hotel guest is considered family or is providing care for a patient who is admitted at local hospital; or
 - (3) When an insurance company or federal, state or local agency has provided documentation that a hotel guest has been displaced from their home by a natural disaster or fire.

Sec. 22-19. Responsibilities, access, and registration requirements.

- (a) Every owner, operator, keeper, proprietor and employee ~~thereof,~~ of any hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel shall, ~~without delay, immediately~~ report violations of law to the City of Snellville Police Department that were either witnessed or made known to them, ~~by an employee, patron, guest, visitor or other person on the premises.~~
- (b) All information required to be maintained pursuant to this ordinance shall be kept strictly confidential in accordance with state and federal law and shall not be provided to any person except to a local, federal or state law enforcement officer or to any officer empowered to enforce this ordinance or by order of a Court of competent jurisdiction.
- (c) All information required to be maintained pursuant to this ordinance shall be provided to any federal, state or local sworn law enforcement officer having the lawful power to arrest, upon demand of the officer and a representation by said officer that a reasonable suspicion exists that such information is relevant to a then-pending inquiry or investigation. Nothing in this requirement shall be construed as giving any such officer any greater right or license to enter a room or invade privacy than the officer shall otherwise possess as a matter of law, probable cause, constitutional law, statutory right, or warrant.
- (d) Every owner, operator, keeper or proprietor of any hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel shall keep a record of all rental agreements between the hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel and all patrons and their guests and make these records available to the City upon request. For the purposes of this section, the term "record" shall mean the hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel's electronic registration system which stores patron and guest identifying information. In the event the hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel does not have an electronic registration

system, the hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel shall manually record the patron and their guest's information in a paper record or reservation book.

- (e) The following information, at a minimum, must be recorded at the time of registration and maintained for a period of no less than one hundred eighty (180) days after the rental agreement's termination:
 - (1) The full name, phone number, and home address of each patron and overnight guest.
 - (3) The room number assigned to each patron and guest;
 - (4) The day, month, year and time of arrival of each patron and guest;
 - (5) The day, month, year each patron and each guest ~~is~~are scheduled to depart;
 - (6) Upon departure, record of departure day, month, and year for each patron and guest;
 - (7) The rate charged and amount collected for rental of the room;
 - (8) The method of payment for each room;
 - (9) The make, model, year, color, license plate number, and license plate state of the patron and guest's vehicle if the vehicle will be parked on the premises; and
 - (10) Documentation used to verify a stay in excess of one hundred and eighty (180) consecutive days as stated in Sec. 22-18(b).
- (f) Every owner, operator, keeper or proprietor of any hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel shall require each patron to provide proper identification prior to renting a room when registering in person. Proper identification is defined as a current and valid government issued photo identification card such as a driver's license, military identification card, state identification card, or passport. A record of the provided identification shall be kept on file for the duration of the occupancy and for one hundred eighty (180) days thereafter. Any failure to verify such identification or to knowingly allow an individual to receive lodging services without such verification shall be in violation of this Ordinance.
- (g) No person shall procure or provide lodging in any hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel, or any services therefrom, through misrepresentation or production of false identification, or identification which misrepresents the identity of the person procuring or sharing in such lodging or service.
- (h) Change of location or name.

- (1) No applicant shall operate, conduct, manage, engage in, or carry on a hotel, motel, or extended-stay motel/hotel under any name other than his name and the name of the business as specified on the occupation tax certificate.
- (2) Any application for an extension or expansion of a building or other place of business where a hotel, motel, or extended-stay motel/hotel is located shall require inspection and shall comply with all applicable codes and regulations.

Sec. 22-20. Vehicles, Parking, and Registration.

- (a) All handicap parking must be in compliance with state and local laws.
- (b) All vehicles must be parked in designated parking spaces. All vehicles must be parked nose-in (backed in parking is not permitted) such that the vehicle's rear license plate is visible. This section does not apply to oversized vehicles or trailers. Every owner, operator, keeper or proprietor of a hotel, motel, and extended-stay hotel must provide patrons and guests who have registered oversized vehicles or trailers a separate designated parking area for their vehicles.
- (c) All vehicles parked on any premises must be in good working order.
- (d) Vehicle maintenance in parking lots is prohibited.
- (e) No outside storage or permanent parking of equipment or vehicles shall be allowed.
- (f) All patrons and guests who wish to park a vehicle on the premises must register said vehicle with the hotel, motel, or extended-stay operator upon initial registration, during any future re-registration, or at any time after registration when they begin parking a vehicle on the premises. Hotel, motel, extended-stay operators must record the vehicle's information in accordance with Sec. 22-19(e)(10).
- (g) Every owner, operator, keeper or proprietor of a hotel, motel, and extended-stay hotel must provide patrons and guests registering a vehicle with a standardized placard that must at all times be hung from the vehicle's rear view mirror, placed on the vehicle's front dash, or affixed to the vehicle in a way that can be easily seen from outside the vehicle. At a minimum, the placard will contain the following information: hotel, motel, and extended-stay name, vehicle registration number and state, and date of check-out. Any hotel, motel, or extended hotel with gated and controlled access parking accessible only to registered guests and employees are exempt from this subsection.

Sec. 22-21. Room requirements, equipment and services.

- (a) Every operator, owner, keeper, or proprietor of any hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel shall keep and maintain in each and every rental unit, a telephone equipped to place a direct call to 911.
- (b) No operator, owner, keeper, or proprietor of any hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel shall rent or provide a room ~~to a Patron that has guests where the total number of for any number of~~ persons ~~staying in the room exceeds the approved number of persons authorized to sleep in the room. Rooms shall be approved based on the prescribed places to sleep on the beds in the room with a minimum of 100 square feet per person. greater than the sleeping accommodations provided within the particular rental unit.~~
- (c) No operator, owner, keeper, or proprietor, patron, visitor or guest of any hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel shall be allowed to congregate within any room or single rental unit a number of persons which is greater than two (2) times the number of persons for whom sleeping accommodations are provided within the single room or rental unit except when temporarily designated as a hospitality suite by the hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel.
- (d) **Daily housekeeping** shall be included within the standard room rate of any hotel, motel, or extended stay hotel. **At a minimum, rooms must be cleaned and linens changed before each new guest checks in and no less frequently than once every forty-eight (48) hours.** Each hotel, motel, and extended-stay hotel must maintain a log that documents when each room is cleaned. The log must be maintained for one hundred and twenty (120) days. These records must be made available to the City of Snellville or law enforcement upon request.
- (e) All common areas of any hotel, motel or extended-stay hotel shall be cleaned on a daily basis or more often as required by public health codes.
- (f) The utilization of clothes-lines or other clothes-drying equipment or facilities outside of a room that are located on or are visible from the outside of a room are prohibited. Balconies and railings are not to be used for hanging towels, personal items or any other articles of clothing.
- (g) No occupational tax certificate shall be issued for the purpose of conducting business from a guest room of a hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel, and no home occupation shall be conducted from such room.

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

- (h) Each new and existing guest room of a hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel shall be equipped with a hard-wired smoke detector or smoke alarms whose device housing is tamper-resistant and is powered by a non-replaceable, non-removable energy source capable of powering the alarm for a minimum of ten years from the manufacture's date on the device.
- (i) All new hotels, motels and extended stay hotels must have in place Laundry facilities consisting of washer and dryer machines which shall be made available to patrons for a fee. This equipment shall be maintained and in good repair at all times. Laundry supplies (detergent, softener, etc.) may also be made available to patrons for a fee. A minimum of three (3) washers and three (3) dryers shall be provided. For existing hotels, motels and extended-stay hotels, Laundry equipment must be installed and in working conditions within 180 days after the effective date of this ordinance.

Sec. 22-22. Common area requirements and parking illumination.

- (a) Exterior doors (other than lobby doors) shall be locked between the hours of 9:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m. and shall be equipped with an alarm or other device that will alert hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel security or other employees the door has been opened.
- (b) The open parking area and all areas surrounding any building or proposed building being a hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel shall have an average maintained foot-candle intensity of at least one (1) foot-candle with a minimum allowable intensity of three-tenths of a foot-candle. The covered parking area of any hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel shall have an average maintained foot-candle intensity of five-tenths of a foot-candle.
- (c) Any hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel must provide and maintain security in its parking area. This may include the following: live patrol guard, security fencing that is decorative and consistent with the zoning code, or other security measure approved in writing by the chief of police.
- (d) Graffiti and markings or insignia that may indicate the presence or associate of a street gang shall be removed within twenty-four (24) hours.

Sec. 22-23. Smoking.

- (a) Smoking is prohibited in all hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel spaces with the exception of designated smoking rooms or designated smoking areas. Designated smoking rooms shall not comprise more than twenty-five percent (25%) of the total number of rooms available for rent.

- (b) Smoking is prohibited in all areas except in designated smoking areas. Smoking is expressly prohibited in exterior breezeways, stairwells, or within twenty (25) feet of any guest room.

Sec. 22-24. Video Surveillance Systems.

- (a) Every owner, operator, keeper or proprietor of any new or existing hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel is required to install a Video Surveillance System (VSS) within three months ~~one year~~ of the effective date of ordinance. All hotels, motels, and extended-stay hotels, which have installed a VSS prior to the effective date of this ordinance, shall ensure said systems are in full compliance with this section and request an approval assessment from the chief of police within thirty (30) days of the effective date of this ordinance.
- (b) All VSS shall be maintained in proper working order at all times, be kept in continuous operation twenty-four (24) hours a day, seven (7) days a week, and meet the minimum technological standards established in this section. The hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel shall retain the continuous digital images recorded by this system for no less than twenty-one (21) days.
- (c) All VSS shall have no less than one camera dedicated to each register or check-out stand, entrance/exit, interior hallway and lobby, swimming pool area, exercise facility, loading dock, and parking lots or areas designated for customer and/or employee parking use. The placement of cameras included in VSS required under this section must be approved by the chief of police. The chief of police will conduct an assessment of each site required to install a VSS prior to installation of said system, and upon approval will issue an approval notice which will be placed in plain view inside the common area of the hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel. This approval notice will also inform customers and employees of the presence of the VSS. Existing VSS at any hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel as of the effective date of this ordinance will be evaluated to ensure full compliance with this section.
- (d) The VSS shall be subject to regular inspection by the chief of police, who is authorized to inspect any such System, at reasonable times to determine whether it conforms to this section. If the VSS does not conform, the hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel, in question, shall take immediate steps to bring the system back into compliance.
- (e) The City of Snellville Police Department will develop and maintain VSS Standards that provide the minimum standards for VSS equipment, installation, and maintenance.

Sec. 22-25. Loitering.

- (a) All hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel operators will advise patrons and guests upon registration, and through posted signage that loitering by visitors is prohibited.
- (b) No Visitor person(s) shall loiter in or upon any hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel parking lot, public parking structure or in or around any building to include breezeways, stairwells or hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel rooms either on foot or in or upon any conveyance being driven or parked thereon, without the permission of the owner, operator, keeper or proprietor or the hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel.

Sec. 22-26. Violations and penalties.

- (a) Any violation of the provisions of this article shall be punishable under Sec. 1-11 of this code. Any person or entity violating the provisions of this article shall be guilty of a separate offense for each and every day during which any violation of any provision of this article is committed, continued, or permitted by that person and shall be punished accordingly.
- (b) Any person or entity violating the provisions of this article who are patrons, guests or visitors of the hotel, motel or extended stay hotel shall be immediately asked to leave the premises. If said person does not voluntarily leave, Snellville Police should be notified immediately to address such eviction and/or removal.
- (c) The violation of the provisions of this article may be abated as a nuisance.
- (d) The violation of all provisions of this article by any person may be enjoined by instituting appropriate proceedings for injunction in any court of competent jurisdiction. Such actions may be maintained notwithstanding that other adequate remedies of law exist. Such actions may be instituted in the name of The City of Snellville, Georgia.
- (e) If a person is convicted of a violation of this article, the court shall impose a fine in accordance with the following schedule:
 - (1) First conviction in a calendar year: a minimum of \$250;
 - (2) Second conviction in a twelve (12) month period measured from the date of the first conviction: a minimum of \$500;
 - (3) Third conviction in a twelve (12) month period measured from the date of the first conviction: a minimum of \$750; and
 - (4) Fourth conviction in a twelve (12) month period measured from the date of the first conviction: a minimum of \$1,000.

Sec. 22-27. Responsibility for enforcement.

- (a) City employees, including employees or agents of the City of Snellville Police Department, City of Snellville Code Enforcement, Gwinnett County Fire Department, and Gwinnett County Board of Health shall have the responsibility for the enforcement of this section.
- (b) Inspections may be performed by sworn officers of the City of Snellville Police Department, City of Snellville Code Enforcement, Gwinnett County Fire Department, Gwinnett County Board of Health, and designated civilian employees for the purpose of verifying compliance with the requirements of this section and state law during the hours in which the premises are open for business.

Sec. 22-28. Right of Entry.

- (a) When there is probable cause to make an inspection to enforce the provisions of this article, or whenever there is reasonable cause to believe that there exists a condition in violation of this code, personnel identified in Sec. 22-27 of this code are authorized to enter the structure or premises, including individual rooms, at reasonable times to inspect or perform the duties imposed by this Code.
- (b) If such structure or premises is occupied, City/County personnel shall present credentials to the occupant and request entry. If entry is refused by occupant, City/County personnel shall have recourse to the remedies provided by law to secure entry. If such structure or premises is unoccupied, City/County personnel shall first make a reasonable effort to locate the owner or other person having charge or control of the structure or premises and request entry. If entry is refused by the owner or other person having charge or control of the structure refuses entry, City/County employees shall have recourse to all methods of entry allowed by law, and the owner and responsible party shall be in violation of this article and subject to punishment under Sec. 1-11 of this Code.

Sec. 22-29. Unlawful operation declared nuisance.

Any hotel, motel, or extended-stay hotel operated, conducted or maintained contrary to the provisions of this article may be declared to be unlawful and a public nuisance. The City may, in addition, or in lieu of all other remedies, commence actions or proceedings for abatement, removal or enjoinder thereof, in the manner provided by state law and this Code.

Section 2. That the City Code, Appendix B, Zoning Ordinance, Article VI, Interpretation and Definitions, Section 6.2, Definitions is hereby amended as follows:

By deleting the following language:

MOTEL/HOTEL: A facility offering lodging accommodations to the general public on a nightly or long-term basis (weekly or monthly) and may provide additional services, such as restaurants, meeting rooms, entertainment and recreational facilities.

And replacing the deleted language with the following:

MOTEL/HOTEL: Any structure consisting of one or more buildings, with more than five dwelling units with provisions for transient living, sanitation, and sleeping, that is specifically constructed, kept, used, maintained, advertised, and held out to the public to be a place where temporary lodging of 30 days or less is offered for pay to persons, is not intended for long-term occupancy, and does not otherwise meet the definition of an extended-stay hotel defined in this section.

EXTENDED-STAY HOTEL: Any structure consisting of one or more buildings, with more than five dwelling units with provisions for living, sanitation, and sleeping, that is specifically constructed, kept, used, maintained, advertised, and held out to the public to be a place where temporary residence is offered for pay to (a) persons for extended-stays and/or stays longer than thirty (30) days, regardless of the presence of rentals or leases for shorter periods of time; or (b) for stays longer than fifteen (15) days in rooms equipped with kitchen facilities. Or, where more than five percent (5%) of the guest rooms therein contain fixed cooking appliances.

HOTEL: See “motel/hotel”.

Section 3. That the City Code, Appendix B, Zoning Ordinance, Article IX, Schedule of District Regulations, Section 9.10, BG, General Business District is hereby amended as follows:

By deleting Section 27. Motels/hotels in its entirety and in its place inserting the following language:

27. Motels, Hotels, and Extended-Stay Hotels, provided:
 - (a) Each motel, hotel, or extended-stay hotel site shall be a minimum of two (2) acres;
 - (b) Each motel or hotel shall have a minimum of sixty (60) rooms. Each extended-stay hotel shall have a minimum density of sixty (60) guest rooms per gross acre of development;

- (c) The lobby size shall be a minimum of seven-hundred (700) square feet;
- (d) Each guest room shall be accessed through an interior hallway and shall not have access to the exterior of the building (except through the central lobby or as otherwise determined by fire codes);
- (e) Each motel, hotel, or extended-stay hotel must man the lobby with a bona fide employee or manager twenty-four (24) hours a day;
- (f) Each guest room shall have a minimum of three-hundred (300) square feet;
- (g) Each motel, hotel, or extended-stay hotel building shall have a minimum roof pitch of four in twelve (4:12);
- (h) Each motel, hotel, or extended-stay hotel shall provide an enclosed heated and air-conditioned laundry space with a minimum of three (3) washers and three (3) dryers;
- (i) Any outdoor recreational areas provided shall be located to the rear of the site;
- (j) Each motel, hotel, or extended-stay hotel site shall provide a seventy-five (75) foot natural buffer, enhanced with an additional twenty-five (25) foot landscaped buffer (total one-hundred (100) feet) where adjacent to residentially zoned property or residential land uses; and
- (k) Each motel, hotel, or extended-stay hotel is further regulated in Article VI, Motels, Hotels and Extended-Stay Hotels of Chapter 22, Businesses of the Code of Snellville, Georgia.

Section 4.

(a) It is hereby declared to be the intention of the Mayor and Council that all sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this Ordinance are or were, upon their enactment, believed by the Mayor and Council to be fully valid, enforceable and constitutional.

(b) It is hereby declared to be the intention of the Mayor and Council that, to the greatest extent allowed by law, each and every section, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this Ordinance is severable from every other section, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this Ordinance. It is hereby further declared to be the intention of the Mayor and Council that, to the

greatest extent allowed by law, no section, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this Ordinance is mutually dependent upon any other section, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this Ordinance.

(c) In the event that any phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this Ordinance shall, for any reason whatsoever, be declared invalid, unconstitutional or otherwise unenforceable by the valid judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, it is the express intent of the Mayor and Council that such invalidity, unconstitutionality or unenforceability shall, to the greatest extent allowed by law, not render invalid, unconstitutional or otherwise unenforceable any of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs or sections of the Ordinance and that, to the greatest extent allowed by law, all remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs and sections of the Ordinance shall remain valid, constitutional, enforceable, and of full force and effect.

Section 5. All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby expressly repealed.

Section 6. This Ordinance was adopted April 22, 2019. The effective date of this Ordinance shall be the date of adoption unless otherwise stated herein.

[SIGNATURES APPEAR ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE]

ORDAINED this 22nd day of April, 2019.

Barbara Bender, Mayor

ATTEST:

Dave Emanuel, Mayor Pro Tem

Melisa Arnold, City Clerk

Cristy Lenski, Council Member

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Roger Marmol, Council Member

Anthony O. L. Powell, City Attorney
Powell & Edwards, Attorneys at Law, P.C.

Gretchen Schulz, Council Member

Tod Warner, Council Member